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“Within the said choir over the high altar hangs a rich and much sumptuous canopy, for the Blessed Sacrament to hang within, which has tow irons fastened in the French piere [the high screen of Caen stone], very finely gilt, which held the canopy in the midst of the said high altar — that the pyx did hang in it that it could not move nor stir — whereupon did stand a pelican, all of silver, upon the height of the said canopy, very finely gilded, giving her blood to her young ones in token that Christ did give his blood for the sins of the world. And the pyx wherein the Blessed Sacrament hung was of the most pure gold, curiously wrought of goldsmith’s work. And the white cloth that hung over the pyx was of very fine lawn [cotton or linen from Laon] all embroidered and wrought about with gold and red silk.”


This description comes from Durham Cathedral in the eleventh century. The Cistercian abbey of Mount St Bernard’s in Leicestershire, for example, still reserves the Blessed Sacrament in a hanging pyx over the central altar. 


In Greek “pyx” means simply “box”. In the middle ages the Holy Sacrament was frequently reserved in these hanging pyxes, often fabricated in the form of a dove, and suspended above the high altar of a church.


Provided the high altar stood separate from the wall, a canopy called a “ciborio” might be erected over it, and the pyx suspended from this. This “ciborio” later developed into the elaborate baldacchinos seen in many Italian basilicas, and indeed copied in various English churches.

The history of the Reservation of the Blessed Sacrament holds many lessons for us today. It began for the purpose of providing Viaticum for the sick and the dying. Gradually, however, the motive of adoration of the Eucharistic Lord became the controlling factor. 


A gradual evolution over 1000 years led to the traditional central tabernacle. Against this background, the recent trend to demote Our Eucharistic Lord from high altars to side-chapels or wall cupboards marks an abrupt fracture, a sharp reversal of the accumulating historical tradition. 

To begin nearer the beginning, c.160 AD St Justin Martyr described how at Mass in Rome, Holy Communion was given: "There is a distribution to each and a participation of that over which thanks have been given, and to those who are absent a portion is sent by the deacons."

In times of persecution, some Christians were allowed to keep the Holy Eucharist in their own homes in small jars or boxes, called arca, for communicating the sick, or indeed for themselves when they had need of it. Priests naturally kept the Eucharist in their homes for taking communion to the sick.

The bishop of Corinth prescribed the following the rite for a domestic communion: 


“If your house is endowed with an oratory, you will set the vase containing the Eucharist on the altar, if there is no oratory, on a decent table. You will spread a small cloth on the table and you will there deposit the sacred fragments; you will burn some grains of incense and you will sing the trisagion [Sanctus] and the symbol [Creed]; then, after having made three genuflections, in sign of adoration, you will take the Body of Jesus Christ religiously.” 


 The Eucharist was carried around the neck in little cubic boxes called encolpia made of gold, silver, ivory or wood, often engraved with the Alpha and Omega or the Chi-Rho symbols.

In 313 AD the Emperor Constantine legalized Christianity throughout the Roman Empire. Catholics were now free to build churches, and for the most part the custom of keeping the Holy Eucharist in private homes ceased.


Constantine gave to his new basilica of Saint Peter in Vaticano a tower and a dove of pure gold, embellished with two hundred and fifty white pearls. The tower and the dove were the two early forms of Eucharistic container. 

The silver tower frequently served as a case for the golden dove, in which the Eucharistic bread was safeguarded. The Eucharistic species was inserted through a small opening in the back of the dove, and a lid carefully closed with a clasp. The tower and dove were then suspended on fine chains from the center of the ciborium which covered the altar.


St John Chrysostom [Constantinople c.400 AD] informs us that sometimes the Precious Blood was reserved, as well as the Host. In Milan, St Ambrose records that a gold, barrel-shaped container called a dolium was used for this purpose.

By the sixth century, the penitential books were reminding parish priests of their duty to make sure the Eucharist was reserved reverently and securely for the benefit of the sick and the dying. Priests must frequently renew the Eucharist, so as to guard against any danger of corruption of the sacred species. Along with the danger of spillage, this is the primary reason why reservation of the consecrated wine did not become common.

Sometimes the place of reservation was a “pastophorium” (literally “food-carrier”) in a secluded and inaccessible place in the church. Often, however, it was over the principal altar. 


During the Romanesque period the hanging pyx – either itself in the form of a dove, or as a small round box hung from the beak of the dove – suspended over the altar, formed the most usual form of reservation in France and England. In Italy, however, from the 11th to the 16th century, the preference was for cabinets set in the wall or for the secretarium, a suitable sacristy. 


With the advent of the Gothic, the three types of cases for the Eucharist – tower, dove or pyx – were reserved either under the altar, or above it, or sometimes in a cabinet constructed in the wall to the left or right of the altar.



The ordinary faithful had a deep longing to adore the Eucharistic Jesus. They received the Sacrament only a few times a year. Gazing upon the Host at the Elevation after the Consecration held immense importance. 

After the institution of the Feast of Corpus Christi in 1265, large monstrances or custodia were fashioned, in which the Sacred Host could be exposed and contemplated. In this way the moment of the Elevation could be prolonged indefinitely, outside the celebration of Mass. 


From the 14th century in Northern Europe the Eucharistic aedicule became increasingly popular. This was a monumental stone construction, standing usually just north of the main altar, in the form of a tower, sometimes reaching up to the vaults. Inside it the consecrated Host was kept in a transparent case behind a grille. Thus from a distance the faithful could continually contemplate the Sacrament. 

In Germany such towers were known as Sakramentshäuser  - Sacrament Houses. Some remarkable examples survive. That in St Laurence’s church in Nuremberg rises a total of 18.7 metres (about 62 feet). There are other outstanding examples in Lübeck and Fürstenwalde, and in Belgium at Kortrijk and Louvain.


Further developments ensued after the Council of Trent. Zwinglianism and Calvinism had denied the Real Presence, whereas Luther denied only Transubstantiation. One way for Catholics to emphasize the Real Presence was to ensure that the Eucharistic container was sited upon an altar – although not necessarily the main altar. Bishop Matteo Giberti of Verona diocese instigated this trend, which spread throughout northern Italy.


In 1560 St Charles Borromeo, Archbishop of Milan, had the Sacrament moved from the sacristy to an altar of his cathedral. In 1614 Pope Paul V decreed that in Rome the tabernacle must be placed on some altar.

The same piety which had constructed the giant Sacramentshäuser now turned to erecting the spectacular Tabernacles and High Altars of the Baroque, Classical and Neo-Gothic periods.

It is noteworthy moreover that in the Eastern Orthodox Churches of Greece, Ukraine, Russia and so on, the Sacrament is reserved in a tabernacle upon the principal altar within the sanctuary, the Holy Table, behind the iconostasis. Despite 1000 years’ separation from Rome, the Holy Spirit has led the Eastern Churches in a very similar direction to the Catholic Church. 


This tabernacle is called an Ark. It usually takes the form of a minature church building with doors, windows and lights. Small doors can be opened to reserve or take out the Sacrament.

Contrary to popular belief (see recent readers’ letters!), the Vatican II decree on the Liturgy, Sacrosanctum Concilium, made absolutely no mention whatsoever of moving tabernacles from high altars, although it had a chapter on church furnishings and art.

It was rather the 1967 document Eucharisticum Mysterium (¶53) from the Sacred Congregation of Rites, and the General Instruction on the Roman Missal (GIRM 1970) which advocated separate Blessed Sacrament chapels. More recent Papal documents have effectively voided this recommendation. 

Remember one Cardinal Hume’s last reflections, when he was dying from cancer. “Communion in the hand, moving the Blessed Sacrament from the high altar, failure to genuflect, have in my experience weakened the respect and devotion due to such a great Sacrament.”    (to be continued next week) 
